fiew Online

Export Citatio

# Active meta-optics and nanophotonics with halide perovskites 🕫

Cite as: Appl. Phys. Rev. **6**, 031307 (2019); doi: 10.1063/1.5107449 Submitted: 29 April 2019 · Accepted: 1 August 2019 · Published Online: 25 September 2019

Alexander S. Berestennikov, 1 Pavel M. Voroshilov, 1 Sergey V. Makarov, 1 🛅 and Yuri S. Kivshar<sup>1,2</sup> 🛅

# AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>ITMO University, St. Petersburg 197101, Russia <sup>2</sup>Nonlinear Physics Center, Australian National University, Canberra, Australian Capital Territory 2601, Australia

# ABSTRACT

Meta-optics based on optically resonant all-dielectric structures is a rapidly developing research area driven by its potential applications for low-loss efficient metadevices. Active, light-emitting subwavelengh nanostructures and metasurfaces are of particular interest for metaoptics, as they offer unique opportunities for novel types of compact light sources and nanolasers. Recently, the study of "halide perovskites" has attracted enormous attention due to their exceptional optical and electrical properties. As a result, this family of materials can provide a prospective platform for modern nanophotonics and meta-optics, allowing us to overcome many obstacles associated with the use of conventional semiconductor materials. Here, we review the recent progress in the field of halide-perovskite meta-optics with the central focus on light-emitting nanoantennas and metasurfaces for the emerging field of "active metadevices."

Published under license by AIP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5107449

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. WHAT IS "META-OPTICS"?	2
III. HALIDE PEROVSKITES VS SEMICONDUCTORS	2
A. On-chip integrated photonics	4
B. Nonlinear optics	4
C. LEDs and lasers	4
D. Photovoltaics	4
E. Cost efficiency	4
IV. BASIC CONCEPTS AND TOOLS	5
A. Optical resonances in dielectric meta-optics	5
B. Mie resonances	5
C. Other resonances in dielectric meta-optics	7
D. Photoluminescence and lasing	8
V. FABRICATION METHODS	10
A. Resonant nanoparticles	10
B. Metasurfaces	10
VI. EXPERIMENTAL DEMONSTRATIONS	10
A. Luminescence enhancement in resonant	
nanoparticles	10
B. Excitonic effects in resonant nanoparticles	11
C. Lasing from nanoparticles	11
D. Structural and active coloring	12
E. Nonlinear metasurfaces	13
VII. SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK	14
A. Ultimately small nanolasers	14

B. Enhanced electroluminescence	15
C. Holographic luminescent or lasing images	15
D. Perovskite photovoltaics	16
E. Enhanced sensing	16
F. Optical cooling.	17

# I. INTRODUCTION

Nanophotonics bridges optics and nanoscale science, and it describes localization of light at the nanoscale in spatially trapped resonant optical modes,<sup>1</sup> enabling us to scale down substantially the size of many optical devices. For many years, the management of light in the subwavelength regime was associated solely with metallic structures supporting plasmonic resonances, paving the way to various nanoscale optical phenomena and applications of "nanoplasmonics."<sup>2</sup>

To confine light at the nanoscale, traditional nanophotonics employs noble metals, as well as various metal alloys and doped oxides.<sup>1,2</sup> Recently, to overcome optical losses and bring novel functionalities, optically resonant "dielectric nanostructures" have been introduced and extensively studied over the last decade.<sup>3,4</sup> Usually, conventional semiconductors such as silicon or gallium arsenide are employed for such nanostructures due to their high values of the refractive index and well-developed fabrication methods.<sup>5</sup> However, most semiconductors face some limitations related to difficulties with reversible spectral tunability, still expensive fabrication processes, and low quantum yield (QY) at room temperature. Therefore, more complicated designs with integrated quantum dots or quantum wells had



FIG. 1. Schematic illustration of the basic designs of meta-optics structures based on halide perovskites for metadevice applications: Individual particles of various shapes and arrays of nanoparticles with unique emission properties tunable in the entire optical spectral range. Cations "MA" and "FA" stand for CH<sub>3</sub>NH<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> and HC-(NH<sub>2</sub>)<sub>2</sub><sup>+</sup>, respectively.

to be applied<sup>6</sup> to overcome such limitations partially. We believe that the next important step is the simplification of the developed designs making them more attractive for large-scale low-cost technological applications by utilizing a rising star of the modern materials science—halide perovskites.

Halide perovskites are materials with a composition ABX<sub>3</sub>, where X stands for halide (I<sup>-</sup>, Br<sup>-</sup>, or Cl<sup>-</sup>), A is an organic or inorganic element, and B is one of the cations listed in Fig. 1. They support excitonic states at room temperature, refractive indices (n = 2-3) high enough for the efficient excitation of various optical resonances, chemically tunable bandgap, strong optical nonlinear response, high defect tolerance, and, thus, quantum yield in the range 30-90% of photoluminescence (PL) at room temperature.<sup>7,8</sup> They have already revolutionized the solar-cell technologies with up to 24.2% performance efficiency.9 The next breakthrough in this field will lead to a novel generation of perovskite-based light-emitting diodes<sup>10</sup> and photodetectors, and the efficiencies of such devices grow rapidly with promise to overtake many previously developed technologies. In turn, light management at the nanoscale is highly important for such a kind of application, because light absorption and emission occur at the subwavelength scale. This raises an important question: Can nanophotonics make perovskite-based optical devices substantially better? The recent results suggest that indeed perovskites can be empowered by optical resonances and nanostructuring, as illustrated schematically in Fig. 1.

Importantly, tight confinement of the electromagnetic fields in resonant optical nanostructures can boost light-matter interaction, and thus enhance light emission processes. All-dielectric light-emitting ("active") nanostructures offer many advantages over their plasmonic counterparts, including high radiation efficiency, directional far-field coupling, and lower heat generation. Furthermore, light sources can be directly placed inside the nanoresonator material, where the near-field enhancement is usually the largest. Nanostructures with optical resonances at the wavelength of the material emission can offer many new opportunities for controlling light emission at the nanoscale, providing a pathway for the realization of novel types of light sources and nanolasers.

In this paper, we review the current progress in this recently emerged field of halide-perovskite meta-optics driven by multipolar Mie-type resonances and summarize the most remarkable developments. In addition, we discuss some future research directions and expected novel applications of this field, including lasing from nanoparticles and metasurfaces, as well as chemically tunable lightemitting metadevices.

#### II. WHAT IS "META-OPTICS"?

Meta-optics is a new and rapidly developing research direction in subwavelength optics and nanophotonics, and it is inspired by the physics of metamaterials<sup>4</sup> where the electromagnetic response is associated with the magnetic dipole (MD) resonances and optical magnetism originating from the resonant dielectric nanostructures with a high refractive index.<sup>4</sup> The concepts of meta-optics and all-dielectric resonant nanophotonics are driven by the idea to employ subwavelength dielectric Mie-resonant nanoparticles as "meta-atoms" for creating highly efficient optical metasurfaces and metadevices, the latter are defined as devices having unique functionalities derived from structuring of functional matter at the subwavelength scale.<sup>11</sup>

To the best of our knowledge, the term meta-optics associated with this context was suggested by Professor Emeritus Ross McPhedran<sup>12</sup> who commented on this as follows: "I think I made the term up to denote traditional optics but enriched with new elements provided by metamaterials" (Ross McPhedran, University of Sydney: March 5, 2018). Indeed, the term meta-optics emphasizes the importance of the optically induced magnetic response of artificial subwavelength-patterned structures. Because of the unique optical resonances and their various combinations employed for interference effects accompanied by strong localization of the electromagnetic fields, high-index nanoscale structures are expected to complement or even replace different plasmonic components in a range of potential applications. Moreover, many concepts which had been developed for plasmonic structures, but fell short of their potential due to strong losses of metals at optical frequencies, can now be realized based on Mie-resonant dielectric structures.

# **III. HALIDE PEROVSKITES vs SEMICONDUCTORS**

During the last few years, monolithic light-emitting nanoantennas and metasurfaces have been fabricated from various semiconductor materials.<sup>13</sup> PL enhancement was observed from Si nanocrystals incorporated into SiO<sub>2</sub> resonant nanoparticles,<sup>14</sup> Ge quantum dots in Si resonant nanoparticles,<sup>15</sup> and nitrogen-vacancy centers in resonant diamond nanoparticles.<sup>16</sup> Aiming for more general applications, we discuss the advantages of halide perovskites and compare them with conventional semiconductors such as Si and GaAs, because they are widely used in modern nanophotonics,<sup>17–20</sup> as well as optoelectronics and photovoltaics.

As shown schematically in Fig. 2(a), halide perovskites can be considered as direct bandgap materials resembling GaAs. *Ab initio*  calculations<sup>21</sup> show that the state contributed by the cation A (e.g., Cs, MA, FA, etc.) is far from the band edges, which means that it does not play a significant role in determining the basic electronic structures in halide perovskites. In turn, the valence band has a Pb *s* and X *p* antibonding character, whereas the conduction band is formed by the Pb *p* states. This is unique dual nature (ionic and covalent) of the halide perovskite electronic structure. In conventional semiconductors such as GaAs, the conduction band primarily has an *s* orbital character,



FIG. 2. Comparison of conventional semiconductor materials and halide perovskites. (a) Sketches of band structures for different semiconductors (Si, GaAs, and halide perovskites), indicating broadband and reversible tuning of the bandgap for perovskites via anion variation (a rainbow arrow). Dashed parabolic curves illustrate the existence of excitons in the perovskites at room temperature. (b) Real parts of refractive index (n) around the edges of conduction band are shown for Si, GaAs, and halide perovskites, where A stands for Cs, MA, or FA, and B stands for Pb, Sn, or Ge. Hollow circles correspond to MAPbX<sub>3</sub> compositions. (c) A hexagon scheme depicts the comparison of suitability of various materials (Si, GaAs, and halide perovskites) for different applications. The low level corresponds to strong limitations for material to be applied in a particular field; the medium level implies the moderate limitations; the high level means that the material either is already widely used or highly prospective for a particular field of applications. whereas the valence band primarily has a p orbital character. In contrast, halide perovskites exhibit an inverted band structure, and the conduction band is mainly composed of degenerate Pb p bands. The atomic p orbitals are less dispersive than s orbitals, and the density of states in the lower conduction band of the halide perovskites is significantly higher than that in GaAs, and it is several orders of magnitude stronger than that in Si. As a result, halide perovskites have a stronger interband transition dipole moment, yielding a high absorption coefficient and high quantum yield for the emission of light.

Additionally, as compared to GaAs, halide perovskites also have high tolerance to defects for luminescence,<sup>22</sup> excitons at room temperature,<sup>23</sup> slightly lower refractive index in visible/near-infrared ranges, and reversibly tunable bandgap from 1.5 eV up to 3 eV<sup>24,25</sup> [Fig. 2(b)]. Due to these favorable characteristics, ease of processing, and low price, the perovskites are the promising family of materials for the next generation optoelectronic and nanophotonic devices. Namely, there is an urgent necessity to create cheap, efficient, reliable, and easyto-manufacture solar cells, light emitting devices (LEDs), ultracompact lasers, nonlinear optical devices, and optical chips. Another scheme in Fig. 2(c) shows the general comparison of applications of halide perovskites with those for Si and GaAs based technologies, where meta-optics and the currently developed concepts can boost the performance of real devices.

# A. On-chip integrated photonics

The real part of the refractive index of halide perovskites is significantly larger than that for SiO<sub>2</sub> or most of the polymers, making the perovskites good materials for on-chip integration, owing to their high enough optical contrast. Moreover, *in situ* chemical variation of the perovskite bandgap<sup>24,25</sup> and, thus, the spectrum of their luminescence, opens up unprecedented opportunities for reconfigurable nanophotonic devices not achievable with the use of the conventional GaAs platform. As a result, halide perovskite nanoparticles,<sup>26</sup> nanowires,<sup>27,28</sup> microdisks,<sup>29</sup> microplates,<sup>30</sup> nanoscale gratings,<sup>31</sup> and metasurfaces<sup>32</sup> are easy to fabricate and process, and they can become a convenient and cheap part of optical circuitry in the near future.<sup>33</sup> Nevertheless, the existing silicon-based platform is much more developed for on-chip integrated photonics,<sup>34</sup> but it is expected to be outperformed by the perovskites in the future.

# **B. Nonlinear optics**

Nonlinear properties of halide perovskites are superior to those of many conventional semiconductors.<sup>35,36</sup> For example, CsPbX<sub>3</sub> demonstrates two-photon, three-photon, and even five-photon absorption,<sup>37</sup> being sufficient for multiphoton pumping of lasing.<sup>38</sup> Third-harmonic generation has also been measured with high third-order susceptibilities  $\chi^{(3)}$  exceeding the level of  $10^{-17}$  m<sup>2</sup> V<sup>-2.39</sup> Second-harmonic generation from halide perovskite (CsPbX<sub>3</sub> or MAPbX<sub>3</sub>, where MA = CH<sub>3</sub>NH<sub>3</sub>) structures is not so effective due to the centrosymmetric crystalline structure. However, lead-free perovskites (such as CsGeI<sub>3</sub> and MAGeI<sub>3</sub>) exhibit giant second-harmonic generation with the second-order nonlinear coefficient  $\chi^{(2)}$  exceeding the value of 150 pm V<sup>-1</sup>, being comparable with those for GaAs and exceeding by many orders the coefficients observed for silicon.<sup>40,41</sup>

## C. LEDs and lasers

Because of a direct bandgap, strong excitons, high defect tolerance, and outstanding color tunability of halide perovskites, they are used actively for light emitting devices (LEDs).<sup>42</sup> Best performing perovskite-based LEDs demonstrate the efficiencies higher than 20%,<sup>10,43</sup> and this number can be improved further by smart nanophotonic designs,<sup>33</sup> as was demonstrated for other LED materials.<sup>44</sup>

Miniaturization of light-emitting architectures is motivated by the development of nanolasers and microlasers.<sup>45</sup> Perovskite lasers based on nanowires, microdisks, and nanoscale gratings show lowlasing thresholds, spectral tunability, and high defect stability.<sup>8,27,33,46</sup> In turn, pure Si and GaAs cannot compete with the perovskite lasers, and they need an additional doping or integration with quantum wells. However, Si- and GaAs-based sources emitting in the near IR frequency range are currently widely used in telecom applications, where no compositions for halide perovskite are available yet. Also, Si based nanostructures can emit white light upon strong photoexcitation with relatively low quantum yield,<sup>47,48</sup> which can be outperformed by layered rather than bulk perovskites.<sup>49</sup>

## **D.** Photovoltaics

Most of the commercial photovoltaic solar cells have been produced using silicon. Wafer-based monocrystalline or polycrystalline silicon solar cells exhibit stability, heat resistance, relatively high photoconversion efficiency (up to  $\approx 26\%$ ), and low-cost fabrication. However, the main disadvantage of crystalline silicon is a poor absorbance due to an indirect bandgap, which requires an increase in an active layer. It makes creating flexible thin-film photovoltaic devices problematic. The use of GaAs allows us to avoid this disadvantage, and it is well suited for photoelectric applications, with an optimal direct bandgap (1.424 eV), high absorption coefficient, and good carrier lifetime and mobility, as well as low nonradiative energy losses. A key disadvantage is a high cost of production due to the need to use the epitaxial growth methods.

Iodine perovskites (e.g., MAPbI<sub>3</sub>) have the optical characteristics close to GaAs, while their electronic properties make the perovskites favorable for thin-film photovoltaics owing to their stronger light absorption.<sup>21,50</sup> At the same time, halide perovskites are based on earth-abundant and cheap materials, and they are easily processed without complex manufacturing multistage procedures. Remarkably, by employing the concepts of nanophotonics and meta-optics, one can improve further the characteristics of perovskite solar cells.<sup>51–54</sup>

# E. Cost efficiency

Due to abundance of silicon, streamlined production, and high density of components which can be placed on a substrate, the cost of silicon components is very low. However, complex methods of creating and postprocessing of silicon-based structures are still required for the fabrication of silicon micro- and nanostructures. Devices based on GaAs are several orders of magnitude more expensive due to a high cost and small size of the substrates, as well as the use of complex epitaxial growth methods and rarity of the material. In this category, perovskite-based devices look more affordable and cheaper for the production on large scales.<sup>55</sup> Using wet chemistry methods and roll-to-roll techniques, it is possible to create flexible, cheap, and effective optoelectronic and nanophotonic devices. Finally, perovskite based

devices have also now been demonstrated to be stable for thousands of hours under conditions that should mimic those that a real device can be exposed to.

# IV. BASIC CONCEPTS AND TOOLS

# A. Optical resonances in dielectric meta-optics

Resonances play a crucial role in meta-optics because they allow us to enhance both electric and magnetic fields. Unlike plasmonic nanoparticles and their structures, the electromagnetic fields penetrate into dielectric nanostructures, and the light-matter interaction in such structures depends strongly on geometric resonances and interferences between different multipolar modes for individual elements and their compositions such as oligomers and metasurfaces.

A building block of any metamaterial or metasurface is a resonant subwavelength structure, frequently called meta-atom and also known in plasmonics as "nanoantenna." Recently, optically resonant dielectric nanoparticles with a high refractive index have attracted a lot of attention in nanophotonics as an alternative approach to achieve a strong Mie-resonant response accompanied by subwavelength localization of light.<sup>3</sup> Meta-optics in halide perovskites takes advantage of their relatively high refractive index and a possibility to employ the structures with different shapes. Typical shapes of halide-perovskite meta-atoms are spheres, cubes, and cylinders, as shown in Figs. 3(a)-3(c). The optical response of dielectric nanoparticles of various shapes has been studied intensively during the last few years,<sup>59–62</sup> and it was revealed that the scattering properties of dielectric nanoparticles



**FIG. 3.** SEM images of major building blocks of halide perovskite meta-optics: (a) spheroids,<sup>56</sup> (b) cuboids,<sup>57</sup> and (c) disks.<sup>58</sup> (d) Photoluminescence spectra for perovskite spheroids with various compositions.<sup>56</sup> Reprinted with permission from Tang *et al.*, ACS Nano **11**, 10681–10688 (2017). Copyright 2017 American Chemical Society<sup>56</sup> [(a) and (d)]; Liu *et al.*, ACS Nano **12**, 5923–5931 (2018). Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society<sup>57</sup> (b); Zhizhchenko *et al.*, ACS Nano **13**, 4140–4147 (2019). Copyright 2019 American Chemical Society<sup>58</sup> (c).

depend strongly on the geometric parameters and the value of the material refractive index.

According to Fig. 2(b), the refractive index of halide perovskites lies in the range n = 2-3, where compounds with narrower bandgaps (~1.5 eV, ABI<sub>3</sub>) possess higher values around an exciton line, whereas lower values are associated with the compounds having the widest bandgaps (~3 eV, ABCl<sub>3</sub>) and satisfy qualitatively the Moss relation.<sup>63</sup> PL of the halide perovskite nanoparticles follows the bandgap changing trends, and it can be varied in the entire visible frequency spectrum [Fig. 3(d)], which is important knowledge for Purcell factor calculations.

#### **B.** Mie resonances

Optical resonances in a dielectric spherical particle can be described analytically by the well-known Mie theory.<sup>64</sup> The Mie theory gives the scattering efficiencies for all angles, as well as in both forward and backward directions relatively to the propagation direction of the incident plane wave

$$C_{scat}^{total} = \frac{2}{q^2} \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} (2s+1)(|a_s|^2 + |b_s|^2), \tag{1}$$

$$C_{scat}^{forward} = \frac{1}{q^2} \left| \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} (2s+1)(a_s+b_s) \right|^2,$$
 (2)

$$C_{scat}^{backward} = \frac{1}{q^2} \left| \sum_{s=1}^{\infty} (2s+1)(-1)^s (a_s - b_s) \right|^2,$$
(3)

where  $q = 2\pi R n_m / \lambda$ , *R* is the particle radius,  $n_m$  is the refractive index of host media, and  $\lambda$  is the incident wavelength. The coefficients  $a_s$ and  $b_s$  correspond to electric- and magnetic scattering amplitudes for corresponding Mie modes (multipoles), which were actively studied during the last decade for various high-refractive-index materials (such as Si and GaAs).

The first resonance of a spherical dielectric nanoparticle is the magnetic dipole resonance ( $b_1$ ), and it occurs when the wavelength of light inside a spherical particle with the refractive index becomes almost equal to the particle's diameter.<sup>65</sup> In turn, metallic spherical particles have negligibly small contribution of the magnetic modes. Another remarkable feature of dielectric particles is the ability to efficiently control the scattering power pattern. As one can see from Eq. (3), backward scattering can be suppressed when magnetic and electric moments have comparable amplitudes and equal phases.

More advanced numerical methods are required to solve the Maxwell equations for cylindrical, cubical, and other shapes of nanoparticles.<sup>59</sup> Although the typical shapes of halide perovskite nanoparticles are nonspherical, but also cubic and cylindrical ones, one can similarly consider scattering on these nanoparticles as a series of multipoles. The multipole moments can be calculated through the electric current density  $\mathbf{J} = -i\omega\varepsilon_0(\varepsilon_r - 1)$  E induced in the particle located in air by a normally incident wave, where  $\varepsilon_0$  is the vacuum permittivity, and  $\varepsilon_r$  is the relative permittivity of the particle material. E is the total electric field inside the particle which can be obtained by carrying out 3D electromagnetic simulations. Since the dimensions of our particles are comparable with a wavelength of the incident light, we used the following expressions for the spherical multipole expansion beyond the long-wavelength approximation<sup>66</sup>

$$\mathbf{p} = \frac{-1}{i\omega} \int \mathbf{J} j_0(kr) d\mathbf{r} + \frac{k^2}{2} \int \left[ \mathbf{3} (\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{J}) \mathbf{r} - r^2 \mathbf{J} \right] \frac{j_2(kr)}{(kr)^2} d\mathbf{r}, \qquad (4)$$

$$\mathbf{m} = \frac{3}{2} \int [\mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{J}] \frac{j_1(kr)}{kr} d\mathbf{r},$$
(5)

$$\hat{Q} = \frac{-3}{i\omega} \int \left[ 3(\mathbf{r} \otimes \mathbf{J} + \mathbf{J} \otimes \mathbf{r}) - 2(\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{J}) \hat{U} \right] \frac{j_1(kr)}{kr} d\mathbf{r} + 2k^2 \int \left[ 5\mathbf{r} \otimes \mathbf{r}(\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{J}) - (\mathbf{r} \otimes \mathbf{J} + \mathbf{J} \otimes \mathbf{r})r^2 - r^2(\mathbf{r} \cdot \mathbf{J}) \hat{U} \right] \frac{j_3(kr)}{(kr)^3} d\mathbf{r},$$
(6)

$$\hat{M} = 15 \int [\mathbf{r} \otimes (\mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{J}) + (\mathbf{r} \times \mathbf{J}) \otimes \mathbf{r}] \frac{j_2(kr)}{(kr)^2} d\mathbf{r},$$
(7)

where **p**, **m**,  $\hat{Q}$ , and  $\hat{M}$  are electric dipole (ED), magnetic dipole (MD), electric quadrupole (EQ), and magnetic quadrupole (MQ) moments of the particle in the Cartesian representation, respectively. Here,  $j_{0,1,2,3}$ denotes spherical Bessel functions, *k* is the wavenumber in air,  $\hat{U}$  is the 3 × 3 unit tensor, and **r** is the radius vector from the center of the particle. Total scattering efficiency can be obtained by summing up each multipole contribution to the scattering as follows (here, we consider contributions of several first multipoles up to magnetic quadrupole):

$$C_{scat} \simeq \frac{k^4}{6\pi\epsilon_0^2 |\mathbf{E}_{inc}|^2 \sigma_{geom}} \left( |\mathbf{p}|^2 + \frac{|\mathbf{m}|^2}{c} + \frac{|k\hat{Q}|^2 + \left|\frac{k\hat{M}}{c}\right|^2}{120} \right), \quad (8)$$

where  $\mathbf{E}_{inc}$  is the incident electric field and  $\sigma_{geom}$  is the geometric cross section.

In Fig. 4, scattering efficiencies for spheroids, cuboids, and cylinders made of different halide perovskite compositions are presented. The compositions correspond to three main formulas: MAPbI<sub>3</sub>, MAPbBr<sub>3</sub>, and MAPbCl<sub>3</sub>. One can see that for the wavelengths larger than the edge of conduction band, Mie resonances are strong enough to provide high values of scattering efficiency (up to 10). At the wavelengths corresponding to high linear absorption, the scattering efficiency is much weaker except that for MAPbI<sub>3</sub>, where the losses in the range of 500–800 nm (bottom of the conduction band) are not too high. Remarkably, all considered shapes of perovskite nanoparticles demonstrate distinguishable Mie resonances.



FIG. 4. Scattering properties of halide-perovskite nanoparticles of different shapes. Calculated scattering efficiencies for spheres, cubes, and cylinders, and the average Purcell factor for spherical particles. Results are presented for three typical chemical compositions of the halide perovskite materials: MAPbI<sub>3</sub>, MAPbBr<sub>3</sub>, and MAPbCI<sub>3</sub>, where  $MA = CH_3NH_3$ .

The next step is the analysis of the scattering power pattern for resonant dielectric nanoparticles irradiated by a plane wave. Smart engineering of optical resonances within a single nanoparticle by varying its geometrical parameters allows for interesting effects related to manipulation by scattering directivity. If electric and magnetic polarizabilities of a nanoparticle are equal to each other in magnitude and phase (the first Kerker condition<sup>67</sup> or Huygens regime<sup>68</sup>) light scattering from this nanoparticle is suppressed in the backward direction. In this regard, it is crucial to provide multipole decomposition to understand at which spectral positions one can expect the regime of backward scattering suppression. In Fig. 5, the calculations show how different multipoles contribute to the scattering in a perovskite "cubic" nanoparticle. As expected, the interference of electric and magnetic

dipoles gives dominating forward scattering. Interestingly, this regime is broadband for a specific sizes [e.g., for 350-nm cube, as shown in Fig. 5(b)], which is important for a number of applications related to antireflective coatings in real devices.

#### C. Other resonances in dielectric meta-optics

In addition to the well-known Mie resonances supported by individual meta-atoms, the recent advances in dielectric meta-optics are associated with other types of resonances which allow to shape and control both linear and nonlinear properties of nanoscale structures and metasurfaces.



**FIG. 5.** Multipole decomposition of the scattering fields of perovskite nanoparticles. Calculated total scattering and multipole decomposition from Eqs. (4)–(8) for MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> nanocubes with the size (a) H = 250 nm and (b) H = 350 nm. The green area corresponds to the Huygens' regime when ED  $\simeq$  MD. Right: Scattering patterns corresponding to the superposition of different multipoles: ED + EQ (point 1), ED + MD (points 2, 4), and EQ + MQ (point 3).

The so-called "Fano resonance" is a fascinating phenomenon of wave physics observed in many problems of photonics, plasmonics, and metamaterials.<sup>69</sup> A cluster of nanoparticles can support Fano resonances arising from interference between different localized modes and radiative electromagnetic waves. In nanophotonics, the Fano resonance is observed typically as a resonant suppression of the total scattering cross section with enhanced absorption. The Fano resonance is attractive for applications because it allows confining light more efficiently, because it is characterized by a steeper dispersion than a conventional resonance, making it promising for nanoscale biochemical sensing, fast switching, and lasing.

A multimode analysis (see, e.g., the review of Ref. 4 and references therein) reveals a principal difference between Fano resonances in dielectric and plasmonic nanoparticle clusters (also called oligomers). In comparison with oligomers made of metallic particles, all-dielectric nanoparticle structures are less sensitive to a separation between the particles, and the field is localized mainly inside the nanoparticles. Also, dielectric nanostructures exhibit low losses, which allows observing the Fano resonances for new geometries not supported by their plasmonic counterparts. These novel features lead to different coupling mechanisms between nanoparticles making all-dielectric nanoparticle structures more attractive for applications in active meta-optics.

"Bound states in the continuum" (BIC) have attracted a lot of attention in photonics recently, and they originate from a coupling between the leaky modes in dielectric structures such as photonic crystals, metasurfaces, and isolated resonators.<sup>70</sup> These resonances provide an alternative means to achieve very large quality factors (Q-factors) for lasing<sup>/1</sup> and also allow tuning a photonic system into the regime of the so-called "supercavity mode."72 A true bound state in the continuum (BIC) is a mathematical object with an infinite value of the Q factor and vanishing resonance width, and it can exist only in ideal loss-less infinite structures or for extreme values of parameters.<sup>73,74</sup> In practice, BIC can be realized as a quasi-BIC mode, being directly associated with the supercavity mode,<sup>72</sup> when both the Q factor and resonance width become finite. However, the localization of light inspired by the BIC physics makes it possible to realize high-Q quasi-BIC modes in many optical structures such as cavities, photonic-crystal slabs, and coupled waveguides.

Importantly, there exists a direct link between quasi-BIC states and Fano resonances since these two phenomena are supported by the similar physics. More specifically, quasi-BIC resonance can be described explicitly by the classical Fano formula, and the observed peak positions and linewidths correspond exactly to the real and imaginary parts of the eigenmode frequencies. The Fano parameter becomes ill-defined at the BIC condition, which corresponds to a collapse of the Fano resonance. Importantly, every quasi-BIC mode can be linked with the Fano resonances, whereas the opposite is not always true: The Fano resonance may not converge to the BIC mode for any variation of the system parameters.

# D. Photoluminescence and lasing

Optical resonances in nanoparticles are a powerful platform for the emission enhancement from nanostructures. Generally speaking, halide perovskites are considered as a family of materials with a high quantum yield (QY) of PL, being widely employed for LEDs and lasing applications, as described in Sec. III above. However, the dependence of QY on photogenerated carrier concentration has a nontrivial behavior, which is strongly affected by the type of recombining particles: Free carriers or excitons. Indeed, since the binding energy of Wannier-Mott excitons in these materials is strongly dependent on the bandgap:  $E_b = 20 \text{ meV}$  for CsPbI<sub>3</sub>,  $E_b = 5-15 \text{ meV}$  for MAPbI<sub>3</sub>,  $E_b = 40 \text{ meV}$  for CsPbBr<sub>3</sub>,  $E_b = 15-40 \text{ meV}$  for MAPbBr<sub>3</sub>,  $E_b = 60-75 \text{ meV}$  for CsPbCl<sub>3</sub>, and  $E_b = 41 \text{ meV}$  for MAPbCl<sub>3</sub> (Refs. 33 and 75) free carriers and excitons can coexist in equilibrium under the appropriate conditions.

A balance between free carrier and exciton populations at equilibrium can be determined by the Saha–Langmuir equation.<sup>76,77</sup> Figure 6 shows the calculated fraction of free carriers relatively to excitons according to this equation with parameters close to 3D halide perovskite ones at room temperature taken from Ref. 78. The calculated ratios for binding energies 20 meV (iodine-like), 50 meV (bromine-like), and 100 meV (chlorine-like) give a general picture about the contribution of excitons for various compositions and regimes of perovskite excitation.

However, the Saha–Langmuir relation does not include the contributions from many-body effects and can be applied at relatively low carrier densities only. Indeed, the Coulomb interaction between an electron and hole would be screened by the presence of other carriers, leading to the dissociation of excitons to free carriers. This transition (the so-called Mott transition) occurs at a critical excitation density ( $N_c$ ) described by  $N_c = k_B T / (11\pi E_b a_b^3)$ , where  $k_B$  is the Boltzmann constant, *T* is temperature,  $E_b$  is the exciton binding energy, and  $a_b$  is the Bohr radius. The dashed line in Fig. 6(a) represents the critical density ( $N_c \approx 4 \times 10^{17}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) of the Mott transition for  $E_b = 15$  meV and  $a_b = 5$  nm. The larger the  $E_b$  and smaller  $a_b$  of the excitons, the higher the  $N_c$  for the exciton dissociation. In Fig. 6(a), this trend for the Mott transition toward higher  $N_c$  is depicted by an arrow.

These estimations help to conclude that free carriers dominate both at low and high concentrations. The low-concentration case  $(\approx 10^{14}-10^{16} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  corresponds to the regimes of optoelectronic device operation, while a high-concentration case  $(>10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  corresponds to lasing at very strong pumping conditions. In turn, excitons contribute considerably at intermediate carrier densities  $(\approx 10^{16}-10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ for halide perovskites, depending on the binding energy  $E_b$  close to the thresholds of amplified spontaneous emission  $(\approx 10^{17}-10^{18} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ . The coexistence of excitons and free-carriers in this region raises debates on the lasing mechanism in 3D halide perovskites.<sup>79–82</sup>

Information about the dominating type of carrier is also crucial for the value of the PL QY because free-carriers and excitons have different relaxation behavior. The decay of photogenerated free carriers in perovskites is usually described with the following equation:

$$\frac{dN_{fc}}{dt} = G - k_1 N_{fc} - k_2 N_{fc}^2 - k_3 N_{fc}^3, \tag{9}$$

where *G* is the photoexcited carrier generation rate.  $k_1$  is the rate constant associated with trap-assisted recombination that relies on an individual carrier (electron or hole) being captured in a trap. The second relaxation term with  $k_2$  corresponds to intrinsic electron-hole recombination, which depends on both electron and hole densities and, thus, on  $N_{fc}^2$ .  $k_3$  is the coefficient for nonradiative three-particle Auger recombination. As a result, the internal *QY* can be written as

$$QY = \frac{k_2 N_{fc}}{k_1 + k_2 N_{fc} + k_3 N_{fc}^2}.$$
 (10)



**FIG. 6.** (a) Calculated fraction of free carriers relatively to excitons as a function of injected carrier density according to the Saha–Langmuir equation for various values of exciton binding energies at room temperature. Carrier densities relevant for photovoltaics (PV), LEDs, and lasing applications are highlighted. Adapted from Manser *et al.*, Chem. Rev. **116**, 12956–13008 (2016). Use permitted under the Standard ACS AuthorChoice/Editors' Choice Usage Agreement.<sup>78</sup> (b) External PL quantum yield (PLQY) for MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> under pulsed laser excitation (squares) together with the modeled internal (red) and external (black) QY. Insets illustrate schematically the origin of QY enhancement and possible further improvement owing to the Purcell effect in resonant perovskite nanoparticles. Reprinted with permission from Richter *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **7**, 13941 (2016). Use permitted under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.<sup>83</sup>

More detailed analysis with taking into account exciton contribution and defects can be seen in Ref. 84.

Figure 6(b) confirms that the internal QY of MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> depends almost linearly on photoexcited carrier density in the lowconcentration regimes, saturating before the lasing regime owing to Auger recombination.<sup>83</sup> Remarkably, the external QY from the perovskite film is much lower than the internal one, because emitted light cannot escape the smooth film at high angles relatively to the normal to surface owing to strong reflection and reabsorption. Therefore, the enhancement of light scattering improving probability of emission outcoupling is one of the straightforward strategies for external QY improvement up to the level 30%–90% at the maximum point.<sup>83,85–87</sup> However, the external QY still can be less than 10%, when the carrier concentration is relatively low. Therefore, smart nanophotonic designs further improving QY of luminescence are desirable for high-performance photonic and optoelectronic devices.<sup>10</sup>

Besides the improvement of the outcoupling, luminescence quantum yield can be enhanced because of acceleration spontaneous emission in a cavity  $\tau_{sp,cav}$  as compared with that in homogeneous medium  $\tau_{sp,0}$  due to the Purcell effect.<sup>88</sup> The Purcell factor reaches then its maximal value *PF* which in the case of closed resonators has the form

$$PF = \frac{\tau_{sp,cav}^{-1}}{\tau_{sp,0}^{-1}} = \frac{6\pi c^3}{n^3 \omega_m} \frac{Q}{V_{mode}},$$
(11)

where *n* is the refractive index, *c* is the speed of light in vacuum,  $\omega_m$  is the angular frequency of the mode, and  $V_{mode}$  is the mode volume. According to this formula, the increase in the Q-factor at a fixed mode volume results in the acceleration of the spontaneous emission rate, and, thus, the emitted power. Also, the increase in the refractive index of the nanoparticle material results in better light localization and, thus, in *Q*-factor enhancement and reduction of the mode volume. Thus, the Purcell effect is more pronounced for perovskites with a higher refractive index, i.e., with a narrower bandgap [see Figs. 4(b), 4(f), and 4(j)].

Taking into account spontaneous emission acceleration via the Purcell effect, the internal QY can be modified as follows:  $^{89}$ 

$$QY = \frac{PF \cdot k_2 N_{fc}}{k_1 + PF \cdot k_2 N_{fc} + k_3 N_{fc}^2}.$$
 (12)

According to the calculations in Figs. 4 and 6(b), such a modification of the spontaneous emission rate in resonant perovskite NPs should result in exceeding 10% level of external QY even for carrier density  $<10^{16}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, i.e., in the regime of optoelectronic device operation.

Higher modes in perovskites' nanocavities can possess high enough *Q*-factors to achieve "lasing." Generally, the *Q*-factor in a dielectric subwavelength cavity exponentially depends on the mode number  $m^{91}$ 

$$Q(m) \sim e^{\beta m},\tag{13}$$

where  $\beta$  is the constant determined by the cavity geometry, optical properties of the cavity, and host material. More advanced designs were recently proposed for high-refractive-index nanocylinders,<sup>92</sup> where high-Q modes were highly symmetric and badly out-coupled into freely propagating light in surrounding dielectric medium. This type of high-Q state is frequently called bound states in continuum (BIC).

Eventually, optimization of the *Q*-factor is crucial for compactization of a microcavity and minimization of its threshold modal gain  $(g_{th})$  for lasing:  $g_{th} = 2\pi n/\lambda Q_{th}$ . Figure 7 shows calculated dependencies of thresholds for spherical CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles on their size (diameter for spheres and edge length for cubes). Remarkably, high gain in CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> perovskites (up to  $3 \times 10^4$  cm<sup>-1</sup> depending on temperature) still allows for lasing in subwavelength nanoparticles (<540 nm)



**FIG. 7.** Lasing of perovskite nanoparticles. Dependence of the threshold gain coefficient on the size of CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> spherical nanoparticles in vacuum obtained from the linear theory. The green stripe corresponds to the maximum levels of gain in CsPbBr<sub>3</sub>. The red region corresponds to nanoparticles with small Q-factors not supporting lasing. Adapted with permission from Tiguntseva *et al.*, preprint arXiv:1905.08646 (2019). Copyright 2019 Author.<sup>90</sup>

regardless of their shape, because low-order Mie resonances are not so sensitive to the shape. Larger particles demonstrate an exponential general trend for reduction of the lasing threshold [see also Eq. (10)]. However, spherical particles are much more preferable when the size is larger than ~800 nm, when whispering gallery modes represent an increase in the incidence angle of lasing mode to the spherical boundary of particles, whereas this angle is fixed for the cubic particles. Taking into account the relatively low thermal conductivity of halide perovskites (<10 W/m K),<sup>8</sup> halide perovskite microparticles (>1  $\mu$ m) of cubic shape are much worse as compared to more compact submicrometer spherical particles with similar *Q*-factors. Nevertheless, final decision on the design selection is based on technological and experimental aspects, which we discuss in Sec. V.

#### V. FABRICATION METHODS

#### A. Resonant nanoparticles

In order to study novel physics of active meta-optics based on the Mie-type modes in halide perovskites, various building-block designs were fabricated. Namely, in most of the experiments, the perovskite nanoparticles with sizes smaller than  $1 \,\mu\text{m}$  acquired spherical, cubic, and cylindrical shapes.

Chemical methods allow us to create randomly arranged perovskite nanoparticles with cubic shapes mostly. For example, the ligand assisted reprecipitation method<sup>93</sup> or antisolvent-assisted techniques in aprotic nonpolar liquids give a cubic shape of nanoparticles with a good crystalline structure and sizes ranging from a few to hundred nanometers.<sup>57,94</sup> Synthesis of nanoparticles with noncubic (polygon) shapes was achieved by a polymer-assisted precipitation on a substrate after spin-coating and annealing of precursors.<sup>95</sup>

Another technique is a chemical vapor deposition (CVD) method allowing for the fabrication of microcubes<sup>96</sup> and micro-spheres<sup>56</sup> of halide perovskites randomly arranged on a substrate. This

method is specifically prospective for the creation of high-quality spherical particles,<sup>56</sup> which are difficult to achieve by the other methods.

Creation of perovskite nanoparticles with a quasispherical shape and much higher precision of spatial positioning was demonstrated by means of the laser transfer technique.<sup>26,95</sup> It represents a physical method (laser ablation) to obtain single perovskite nanoparticles flying from spin-coated perovskite films to an arbitrary substrate. Also, direct laser ablation of a thin perovskite film allows for cutting microstructures with shapes (e.g., cylinders), which are not possible to produce by any chemical or chemical vapor deposition methods.<sup>58</sup> Remarkably, the high defect tolerance of halide perovskites preserves high quantum yield for luminescence from the fabricated nanoparticles or microdisks even after the intense laser-matter interaction process.

Finally, perovskite microparticles of a cylindrical shape can be fabricated by electron- or ion-beam lithography with the highest spatial precision.<sup>97,98</sup> For example, microdisks with various shapes were created and even integrated with a nanoscale waveguide.<sup>29</sup>

# **B.** Metasurfaces

Metasurfaces are periodical nanostructures consisting of the nanoparticles of any shapes and arranged with the periods less than incident or emitted light wavelengths. Besides the special requirements for the nanoparticle shape, the periodicity in metasurfaces is another critical parameter. Therefore, it is very challenging to create high-quality metasurfaces by means of any chemical methods, including various template-assisted techniques.<sup>99</sup> The highest precision was achieved by employing ion-beam<sup>100</sup> and electron-beam<sup>101–103</sup> lithography. However, these lithography-based approaches suffer from relatively low productivity. In this regard, nanoimprint lithography demonstrated high potential for mass-production of halide perovskite photonic crystals and metasurfaces.<sup>104–107</sup>

# VI. EXPERIMENTAL DEMONSTRATIONS

# A. Luminescence enhancement in resonant nanoparticles

In the work,<sup>26</sup> pronounced Mie resonances were observed experimentally in individual nanoparticles smaller than 500 nm made of different types of halide perovskite MAPb( $Br_xI_{1-x}$ )<sub>3</sub>, as shown schematically in Fig. 8(a). As we discussed in Sec. IV, the main advantages of Mie resonances are local field enhancement and far-field control for incident light, as well as acceleration of radiative recombination at the emission wavelength of the material. The latter effect results in the enhancement of luminescence efficiency around the Mie resonances, and was also observed experimentally for halide perovskite nanoparticles. In Fig. 8(b), the perovskite nanoparticles made of MAPbI<sub>3</sub> exhibited a clear dependence on their size, which can be well fitted qualitatively by analytical calculations based on Eq. (11), or more rigorously based on the Chew's theory.<sup>108</sup> The PL from the nanoparticle with the optimized size is up to 5 times stronger as compared with a thin film [see Fig. 8(c)]. However, optical losses in perovskites at the exciton peak and increasing mode volume with a growth of particle's size reduce an averaged emitted power, being maximum for the magnetic quadrupole resonance.<sup>24</sup>



FIG. 8. Resonant enhancement of photoluminescence in halide perovskite nanoparticles. (a) Schematic illustration of halide perovskite nanoantennas. (b) Experimental dependence of the photoluminescence signal on the size of MAPbl<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles and corresponding theoretical calculations for the emission rate. (c) Experimental spectra of photoluminescence from MAPbl<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles of different sizes and thin MAPbl<sub>3</sub> film. Reprinted with permission from Tiguntseva *et al.*, Nano Lett. **18**, 1185–1190 (2018). Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.<sup>26</sup>

#### B. Excitonic effects in resonant nanoparticles

Beside the PL enhancement effect, it is expected that coherent coupling of Mie modes of the particle to the excitons<sup>109</sup> of perovskite will result in a pronounced Fano resonance at room temperature, because the halide perovskites possess a pronounced exciton state with binding energies more than 20 meV.<sup>23</sup> As shown in work,<sup>95</sup> the calculated scattering cross section spectra of spherical MAPbI<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles vs particle radius reveal an asymmetric behavior inherent for the Fano-like dip close to the exciton resonance of the MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> perovskite at 539 nm. This knowledge is crucial for the analysis of transmittance spectra for the films made of perovskite nanoparticles, where the dip around the exciton spectral line has to be attributed to the Fano resonance rather than reduced absorption in the material.

Another interesting exciton-driven effect is related to a nonlocal character of dielectric permittivity of halide perovskites. The mechanism of this effect is associated with the fact that excitons in nanoparticles have an additional kinetic energy that is proportional to  $k^2$ , where k is the wavenumber. Therefore, they possess higher energy than in the case of static excitons. In more detail, spatial dispersion inside the sphere results in the emergence of the additional, longitudinal electric wave,  $\mathbf{E}_{l}$ .<sup>110</sup> This wave coexists with the conventional, transverse waves and can also be expanded in spherical harmonics with a single set of expansion coefficients. As shown in the work,<sup>94</sup> this phenomenon is important at the intermediate sizes of nanoparticles,

where the nonlocal response of the exciton affects the spectral properties of Mie modes. As a result, some blue-shift of the PL, scattering, and absorption cross section peaks can be observed for halide perovskites with sizes in the range between 10 and 100 nm, i.e., where any quantum confinement effects are negligible, while the contribution Mie modes are considerable.

#### C. Lasing from nanoparticles

According to the theoretical predictions (see Fig. 7), slightly larger perovskite nanoparticles are prospective for lasing applications. Indeed, owing to their high QY85 and ability to support confined optical modes,<sup>33</sup> halide perovskite based nanoparticles are also very prospective for the creation of micro- and nanolasers operating at room temperature.<sup>82</sup> The first successful demonstration of this concept with submicrometer particles was carried out with perfectly spherical CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> particles with a diameter of about 780 nm.<sup>56</sup> Reduction of the size resulted in a significant increase in the lasing threshold from the  $10^{-1} \mu$ J/cm<sup>2</sup> level<sup>56</sup> up to  $10^2 \mu$ J/cm<sup>2</sup> for subwavelength cubic nanoparticles.<sup>90</sup> As shown in Fig. 9, the CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> subwavelength nanocubes of a high quality can support an efficient lasing at the fourth-order Mie resonance (electric hexadecapole) even at room temperature, being as small as 0.5  $\lambda^3$  and the smallest nonplasmonic nanolaser.<sup>90</sup> Further size decrease results in exceeding the damage threshold of the material.



**FIG. 9.** Lasing from perovskite nanoparticles. (a)–(c) Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> perovskite nanocubes on a sapphire substrate. Corresponding sizes are shown next to each image. Scale bars are 500 nm. (d)–(f) Calculated electric field distribution of the lasing mode (around 535 nm) in the nanocubes. (g)–(i) Experimentally measured dependencies of the emission intensity from the nanocubes at room temperature. Adapted with permission from Tiguntseva *et al.*, preprint arXiv:1905.08646 (2019). Copyright 2019 Author.<sup>90</sup>

# D. Structural and active coloring

The ordered resonant perovskite nanoparticles or resonant nanostructures (so-called meta-atoms) can form a metasurface. The first application of halide perovskite metasurfaces was structural coloration,<sup>100</sup> when different wavelengths of the incident light are selectively reflected and absorbed by the metasurface owing to its resonant response [Figs. 10(a) and 10(b)]. Indeed, as shown in Fig. 4, perovskite nanoparticles can demonstrate enhanced scattering at various wavelengths because of Mie resonances. Some particular realizations of perovskite periodical nanostructures and corresponding structural colors are presented in Figs. 10(c) and 10(d). A similar effect was demonstrated previously with other semiconductors materials (e.g., silicon<sup>111</sup> and germanium<sup>112</sup>).

Additional color mixing becomes possible when incident light not only passively propagates through the metasurface, but also makes its active, i.e., induces photoluminescence or even lasing at a certain intensity and wavelength. Figure 10(e) represents an experimental illustration of the active metasurface based on the MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> perovskite nanostructure, where different colors are obtained under different intensities of incident light with a wavelength of 400 nm.<sup>102</sup> This paves the way for display pixels with tunable colors originating from resonantly enhanced luminescence and selectively modified reflection properties of halide perovskite metasurfaces.

The remarkable feature which makes halide perovskites unique among the other semiconductors is that one can tune their optical properties *in situ* by the anion exchange,<sup>24,25</sup> which is much more controllable than photoinduced segregation in perovskites.<sup>114</sup> The



**FIG. 10.** Coloring with perovskite metasurfaces and nanostructures. (a) Optical images of MAPbl<sub>3</sub> metasurfaces with different periods and (b) corresponding CE 1931 color space for the meta-pixels with an electron image. (c) Optical and electronic images of perovskite metasurfaces, as well as corresponding simulated colors. (d) Reflection colors for perovskite metasurfaces. (e) Perovskite metasurfaces with actively tunable colors by means of luminescence excitation and its experimental demonstrations (f) without and (g) with photoluminescence contribution. Reprinted with permission from Gao *et al.*, ACS Nano **12**, 8847–8854 (2018). Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.<sup>102</sup>

anion (I<sup>-</sup>, Br<sup>-</sup>, and Cl<sup>-</sup>) exchange in arbitrary perovskite objects (thin films, nanoparticles, nanowires, etc.) can occur in the gas phase when they are surrounded by acid molecules (HI, HBr, or HCl). This approach was applied to resonant CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles as well and resulted in a broadband ( $\sim$ 1 eV) exciton spectral position tuning by applying HCl acid in the gas phase by several minutes.<sup>95</sup> As shown in Figs. 11(a)–11(c), the white light transmission spectrum through the randomly distributed resonant CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> perovskite nanoparticles contains the feature of Fano resonance caused by coupling the exciton with Mie modes in the nanoparticles, and it is gradually modified at different doses of HCl gas. Moreover, Fig. 11(e) proves that the nanoparticle spectrum can be reversibly modified upon exposure in vapors of HCl and HBr acids.

The effect of perovskite bandgap engineering was applied for strong spectral tuning of the optical properties of the MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> metasurface [see the example in Fig. 11(f)] by means of *in situ* material reversible conversion to MAPbI<sub>3</sub> in a chemical vapor deposition (CVD) tube.<sup>113</sup> This approach allowed for switching off the reflection signal reversibly from the perovskite metasurface [Fig. 11(g)]. A switchable perovskite meta-hologram was also demonstrated [Fig. 11(h)], when the material of the design converting incident light into the word "HIT" was modified in the CVD tube.

#### E. Nonlinear metasurfaces

Nonlinear meta-optics based on Mie-resonant nanoparticles made of Si, GaP, Ge, or GaAs materials is a very rapidly developing area of modern optics.<sup>115</sup> In turn, the use of halide perovskite nanoparticles and metasurfaces is also very attractive for enhancing nonlinear optical response of metadevices, as was discussed above.

An increase up to two orders of magnitude in multiphoton absorption induced PL was demonstrated with perovskite metasurfaces pumped by near-infrared femtosecond laser pulses.<sup>116</sup> The enhancement factor depends on the type of nanostructure [see Fig. 12(b)], and a strong polarization dependence was demonstrated owing to excitation of various modes. Recently, such a strong enhancement was employed<sup>117</sup> to distinguish meta-pixels with slightly different designs or excitation wavelengths, as shown in Figs. 12(c) and 12(d). This finding opens a new degree of freedom for structural coloring



**FIG. 11.** Dynamically reconfigurable meta-atoms and metasurfaces. (a) Concept of nanoantenna tunability by an anion exchange in the vapor phase. (b) Electron image of CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> resonance nanoparticles that demonstrates (c) a gradual shift of the Fano resonance after the anion exchange process (d) confirmed by theoretical modeling. (e) Experimental demonstration of the reversible multicycle tuning of the Fano resonance. Reprinted with permission from Tiguntseva *et al.*, Nano Lett. **18**, 5522–5529 (2018). Copyright 2018 American Chemical Society.<sup>95</sup> (f) Electron image of the MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> metasurface switched to the MAPbl<sub>3</sub> phase by an anion exchange, as shown in (g). (h) Holographic images before and after the chemical switching of perovskite metasurfaces shown schematically in the lower row of images. Reprinted with permission from Zhang *et al.*, Laser Photonics Rev. **13**, 1900079 (2019). Copyright 2019 WILEY-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim.<sup>113</sup>

and encoding of information. Nonlinear metasurfaces made of plasmonic structures coupled to a perovskite layer were also proposed recently for ultrafast modulation of terahertz signals,<sup>118,119</sup> demonstrating picosecond-scale material's response.

## VII. SUMMARY AND OUTLOOK

We have presented a brief overview of the recent advances in the emerging field of active meta-optics and dielectric nanophotonics based on halide perovskites. In particular, we have demonstrated that nanoparticles made of halide perovskites and having various shapes can support pronounced Mie resonances in the visible and nearinfrared spectral range. Such optically resonant perovskite nanoparticles can provide a subwavelength confinement of the local electromagnetic fields, and they can boost many optical effects originating from strong light-matter interaction and optical magnetism, thus offering novel opportunities for the subwavelength control of light in active and light-emitting nanostructures and metasurfaces. Figure 13 summarizes several recently developed applications of halideperovskite active and light-emitting metasurfaces. These examples range from a standard wave-front control and spectrally resolved wave selection to novel functionalities such as highly efficient luminescence, compact lasing, and reversible chemistry-induced tunability.

For the future developments, we emphasize that a combination of halide perovskites with nanostructuring suggests that the performance of many perovskite-based optical devices can be improved substantially, and perovskite devices can be empowered by optical resonances and nanostructuring. Below we outline several research directions where we oversee some further progress in the next coming years.

#### A. Ultimately small nanolasers

According to Fig. 7, one can expect room-temperature lasing at the sizes considerably smaller than the wavelength of emitted photons (down to  $0.6\lambda$ ) owing to a high gain of halide perovskites. Further decreasing the nanolaser size becomes possible by employing various strategies. The first strategy is a decrease in nanolaser temperature in order to simply increase the population of excited carriers at the bottom of the conduction band as usually happens in semiconductors.<sup>120</sup> The second strategy is related to the optimization of perovskite material properties. For example, cooling halide perovskite can lead to phase transitions and phase coexistence at some temperature intervals (e.g., at T < 160 K, for MAPbI<sub>3</sub>). In such a case, a gain originates from tetragonal phase inclusions that are photogenerated by the pump within the bulk orthorhombic host matrix with slightly wider bandgap and lower losses in the range of lasing from the tetragonal phase inclusions.<sup>121</sup> Similar multiphase optimization might be achieved potentially even at room temperatures by anion-mixing in perovskites, where a segregation process results in a separation of different monohalide perovskite



**FIG. 12.** Nonlinear upconversion from halide perovskite metasurfaces. (a) Experimentally measured dependence of nonlinear photoluminescence on incident fluence of 150-fs infrared laser pulses. (b) Experimental spectra of nonlinearly pumped photoluminescence from different triple-cation mixed-halide perovskite nanostructures with corresponding electron images. (c) A top view electron image of the MAPbBr<sub>3</sub> metasurface for nonlinear imaging, scale bar is 300  $\mu$ m. The insets are the images of the encoded information and the background; the scale bar is 1  $\mu$ m. (d) Nonlinear photoluminescence images under different pumping wavelengths 1500 nm (upper), 1400 nm and 1350 nm of femto-second laser, and linear photoluminescence image pumped by a laser at a wavelength of 400 nm (lower). Reprinted with permission from Fan *et al.*, Nat. Commun. **10**, 2085 (2019). Use permitted under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License.<sup>117</sup>

phases<sup>122</sup> and, thus, the formation of inclusions with smaller bandgaps inside a host medium with a wider bandgap.

# B. Enhanced electroluminescence

Resulting from the previous demonstration of the enhanced PL from perovksite meta-atoms,<sup>26</sup> metasurfaces,<sup>31,33,100,102,113,117</sup> and also electroluminescence from random nanoparticles<sup>87</sup> and photonic crystals,<sup>123</sup> we anticipate the demonstration of electrically driven metasurface-based perovskite LEDs. This would result in a dynamical control of LED emission and may offer new opportunities for efficient and smart displays. Remarkably, current state-of-the-art perovskite-based LEDs can be semitransparent,<sup>124</sup> which allows for an additional control of not only emitted light, but also transmitted light expanding

the device functionality. Finally, the optimized perovskite metasurfaces supporting high-Q modes can be utilized for creating electrically pumped perovskite lasers, and have not been demonstrated so far.

## C. Holographic luminescent or lasing images

Recent progress in all-dielectric light-emitting nanoantennas and metasurfaces<sup>125,126</sup> offers new opportunities for control of the emission wavelength, brightness, wavefront shape, and direction of the emitted light. This would be beneficial for 3D imaging or holography,<sup>127,128</sup> where different encoded images are projected at different viewing angles. All-dielectric perovskite-based metasurfaces supporting lasing could also improve quality of imaging in holographic displays owing to high coherence and improved directivity of the emitted light.

scitation.org/journal/are



FIG. 13. Schematic illustration of several different applications of perovskite meta-optics for nonlinear nanophotonics, nanolasers, resonance-based coloring, and chemically controlled tunability.

# D. Perovskite photovoltaics

Highly efficient perovskite solar cells with structural colors<sup>129,130</sup> present another important step for building integrated photovoltaic devices and smart glass. On the other hand, randomly distributed resonant plasmonic<sup>51</sup> and dielectric<sup>52</sup> nanoparticles have already been utilized for boosting photovoltaic characteristics. The next logical step in this direction would be to combine structural colors in transmittance/reflectance, enhanced absorption, and even controlled luminescence directivity to create multifunctional light-emitting solar cells<sup>131</sup> with an outstanding performance.

#### E. Enhanced sensing

Recent designs based on high-Q all-dielectric metasurfaces<sup>132,133</sup> demonstrate outstanding functionalities of nanostructured devices for biosensing applications. In turn, halide perovskite metasurfaces with similar designs would allow creating highly sensitive liquid, <sup>130</sup> gas, <sup>95</sup> and deformation<sup>134</sup> sensors. This would allow us to acquire spatially resolved spectra from millions of image pixels and use smart data-processing tools to extract highthroughput digital sensing information at the unprecedented level of sensitivity with the spectral data retrieval from a single image without using spectrometers.

scitation.org/journal/are

## F. Optical cooling

The effect of the temperature decrease upon material illumination by photons with the energies lower than that of the excitonic state (upconversion) and absorption of an additional phonon<sup>135,136</sup> was demonstrated experimentally for perovskites micro-objects.<sup>137</sup> One of the possible applications of the Purcell factor enhancement in perovskite nanoparticles is more efficient optical cooling at the nanoscale. Indeed, as was predicted theoretically,<sup>89</sup> this effect helps to boost internal QY of PL for MAPbI<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles and enhance the absorption of light at pumping wavelength below the bandgap. As a result, we may expect the cooling down to  $\Delta T \approx -100$  K.

In brief, we anticipate further rapid progress in this research direction driven by the concepts of meta-optics owing to great potential for applications of halide-perovskite meta-optics in new types of light sources, light-emitting metasurfaces, next-generation displays, quantum signal processing, and efficient lasing. Moreover, meta-optics can have even a broader range of applications highlighting the importance of the optically induced magnetic response, including structural coloring, optical sensing, spatial modulation of light, and nonlinear active media, as well as both integrated classical and quantum circuitry and topological photonics, underpinning a new generation of highly efficient active metadevices.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Ministry of Education and Science of the Russian Federation (Project No. 14.Y26.31.0010) and the Russian Science Foundation (Project No. 19-73-30023). Y.S.K. acknowledges support from the Strategic Fund of the Australian National University and also thanks C. Jagadish for useful comments and his kind suggestion to write this review paper. The authors thank their close collaborators D. Baranov, K. Koshelev, I. Iorsh, A. Zakhidov E. Tiguntseva, A. Furasova, A. Pushkarev, and T. Shegai for their valuable input and help.

#### REFERENCES

- <sup>1</sup>F. Koenderink, A. Alu, and A. Polman, "Nanophotonics: Shrinking lightbased technology," <u>Science</u> **348**, 516–521 (2015).
- <sup>2</sup>M. I. Stockman, "Nanoplasmonics: Past, present, and glimpse into future," Opt. Express 19, 22029–22106 (2011).
- <sup>3</sup>A. I. Kuznetsov, A. E. Miroshnichenko, M. L. Brongersma, Y. S. Kivshar, and B. Luk'yanchuk, "Optically resonant dielectric nanostructures," Science 354, aag2472 (2016).
- <sup>4</sup>S. Kruk and Y. Kivshar, "Functional meta-optics and nanophotonics governed by Mie resonances," ACS Photonics 4, 2638 (2017).
- <sup>5</sup>D. G. Baranov, D. Zuev, S. I. Lepeshov, O. I. Kotov, A. E. Krasnok, A. B. Evlyukhin, and B. N. Chichkov, "All-dielectric nanophotonics: The quest for better materials and fabrication techniques," Optica 4, 814–825 (2017).
- <sup>6</sup>I. Staude, T. Pertsch, and Y. Kivshar, "All-dielectric resonant meta-optics lightens up," ACS Photonics **6**, 802–814 (2019).
- <sup>7</sup>Y.-H. Kim, H. Cho, and T.-W. Lee, "Metal halide perovskite light emitters," Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 11694–11702 (2016).
- <sup>8</sup>B. R. Sutherland and E. H. Sargent, "Perovskite photonic sources," Nat. Photonics 10, 295 (2016).
- <sup>9</sup>See https://www.nrel.gov/pv/cell-efficiency.html for "Best research-cell efficiency chart."
- <sup>10</sup>K. Lin, J. Xing, L. N. Quan, F. P. G. de Arquer, X. Gong, J. Lu, L. Xie, W. Zhao, D. Zhang, C. Yan, W. Li, X. Liu, Y. Lu, J. Kirman, E. H. Sargent, Q. Xiong, and Z. Wei, "Perovskite light-emitting diodes with external quantum efficiency exceeding 20 per cent," Nature 562, 245 (2018).

- <sup>11</sup>N. Zheludev and Y. Kivshar, "From metamaterials to metadevices," Nat. Mater. **11**, 917 (2012).
- <sup>12</sup>R. C. McPhedran, I. V. Shadrivov, B. T. Kuhlmey, and Y. Kivshar, "Metamaterials and meta-optics," NPG Asia Mater. 3, 100–108 (2011).
- <sup>13</sup>S. Bidault, M. Mivelle, and N. Bonod, "Dielectric nanoantennas to manipulate solid-state light emission," J. Appl. Phys. **126**(9), 094104 (2019).
- <sup>14</sup>A. Capretti, A. Lesage, and T. Gregorkiewicz, "Integrating quantum dots and dielectric mie resonators: A hierarchical metamaterial inheriting the best of both," ACS Photonics 4, 2187–2197 (2017).
- <sup>15</sup>V. Rutckaia, F. Heyroth, A. Novikov, M. Shaleev, M. Petrov, and J. Schilling, "Quantum dot emission driven by mie resonances in silicon nanostructures," Nano Lett. 17, 6886–6892 (2017).
- <sup>16</sup>A. Zalogina, R. Saveliev, E. V. Ushakova, G. P. Zograf, P. Komissarenko, V. Milichko, S. Makarov, D. Zuev, and I. Shadrivov, "Purcell effect in active diamond nanoantennas," Nanoscale 10, 8721–8727 (2018).
- 17 I. Staude and J. Schilling, "Metamaterial-inspired silicon nanophotonics," Nat. Photonics 11, 274–284 (2017).
- <sup>18</sup>J. Xiang, S. Jiang, J. Chen, J. Li, Q. Dai, C. Zhang, Y. Xu, S. Tie, and S. Lan, "Hot-electron intraband luminescence from GaAs nanospheres mediated by magnetic dipole resonances," Nano Lett. **17**, 4853–4859 (2017).
- <sup>19</sup>S. Liu, A. Vaskin, S. Addamane, B. Leung, M.-C. Tsai, Y. Yang, P. P. Vabishchevich, G. A. Keeler, G. Wang, and X. He, "Light-emitting metasurfaces: Simultaneous control of spontaneous emission and far-field radiation," Nano Lett. 18, 6906–6914 (2018).
- <sup>20</sup>S. T. Ha, Y. H. Fu, N. K. Emani, Z. Pan, R. M. Bakker, R. Paniagua-Domínguez, and A. I. Kuznetsov, "Directional lasing in resonant semiconductor nanoantenna arrays," Nat. Nanotechnol. 13, 1042 (2018).
- <sup>21</sup>W.-J. Yin, J.-H. Yang, J. Kang, Y. Yan, and S.-H. Wei, "Halide perovskite materials for solar cells: A theoretical review," J. Mater. Chem. A 3, 8926–8942 (2015).
- <sup>22</sup>J. Kang and L.-W. Wang, "High defect tolerance in lead halide perovskite cspbbr3," J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 8, 489–493 (2017).
- <sup>23</sup>K. Tanaka, T. Takahashi, T. Ban, T. Kondo, K. Uchida, and N. Miura, "Comparative study on the excitons in lead-halide-based perovskite-type crystals CH<sub>3</sub>NH<sub>3</sub>PbBr<sub>3</sub> CH<sub>3</sub>NH<sub>3</sub>PbI<sub>3</sub>," Solid State Commun. **127**, 619–623 (2003).
- <sup>24</sup>N. Pellet, J. Teuscher, J. Maier, and M. Grätzel, "Transforming hybrid organic inorganic perovskites by rapid halide exchange," Chem. Mater. **27**, 2181–2188 (2015).
- <sup>25</sup>D. Solis-Ibarra, I. Smith, and H. Karunadasa, "Post-synthetic halide conversion and selective halogen capture in hybrid perovskites," Chem. Sci. 6, 4054–4059 (2015).
- <sup>26</sup>E. Tiguntseva, G. P. Zograf, F. E. Komissarenko, D. A. Zuev, A. A. Zakhidov, S. V. Makarov, and Y. S. Kivshar, "Light-emitting halide perovskite nanoantennas," Nano Lett. 18, 1185–1190 (2018).
- <sup>27</sup>H. Zhu, Y. Fu, F. Meng, X. Wu, Z. Gong, Q. Ding, M. V. Gustafsson, M. T. Trinh, S. Jin, and X. Zhu, "Lead halide perovskite nanowire lasers with low lasing thresholds and high quality factors," Nat. Mater. 14, 636 (2015).
- <sup>28</sup>J. Xing, X. F. Liu, Q. Zhang, S. T. Ha, Y. W. Yuan, C. Shen, T. C. Sum, and Q. Xiong, "Vapor phase synthesis of organometal halide perovskite nanowires for tunable room-temperature nanolasers," Nano Lett. **15**, 4571–4577 (2015).
- <sup>29</sup>P. J. Cegielski, A. L. Giesecke, S. Neutzner, C. Porschatis, M. Gandini, D. Schall, C. A. R. Perini, J. Bolten, S. Suckow, S. Kataria, B. Chmielak, T. Wahlbrink, A. Petrozza, and M. C. Lemme, "Monolithically integrated perovskite semiconductor lasers on silicon photonic chips by scalable top-down fabrication," Nano Lett. 18, 6915–6923 (2018).
- <sup>30</sup>Q. Zhang, S. T. Ha, X. Liu, T. C. Sum, and Q. Xiong, "Room-temperature near-infrared high-Q perovskite whispering-gallery planar nanolasers," Nano Lett. 14, 5995–6001 (2014).
- <sup>31</sup>E. Tiguntseva, Z. Sadrieva, B. Stroganov, Y. V. Kapitonov, F. Komissarenko, R. Haroldson, B. Balachandran, W. Hu, Q. Gu, A. Zakhidov, A. Bogdanov, and S. V. Makarov, "Enhanced temperature-tunable narrow-band photoluminescence from resonant perovskite nanograting," Appl. Surf. Sci. 473, 419–424 (2019).
- <sup>32</sup>V. C. Su, C. H. Chu, G. Sun, and D. P. Tsai, "Advances in optical metasurfaces: Fabrication and applications," Opt. Exp. 26(10), 13148–13182 (2018).

- <sup>33</sup>S. Makarov, A. Furasova, E. Tiguntseva, A. Hemmetter, A. Berestennikov, A. Pushkarev, A. Zakhidov, and Y. Kivshar, "Halide-perovskite resonant nano-photonics," Adv. Opt. Mater. 7, 1800784 (2019).
- <sup>34</sup>W. Bogaerts and L. Chrostowski, "Silicon photonics circuit design: Methods, tools and challenges," Laser Photonics Rev. **12**, 1700237 (2018).
- <sup>35</sup>A. Ferrando, J. P. Martínez Pastor, and I. Suárez, "Toward metal halide perovskite nonlinear photonics," J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 9, 5612–5623 (2018).
- <sup>36</sup>J. Xu, X. Li, J. Xiong, C. Yuan, S. Semin, T. Rasing, and X.-H. Bu, "Halide perovskites for nonlinear optics," Adv. Mater. 2019, 1806736 (published online).
- <sup>37</sup>W. Chen, S. Bhaumik, S. A. Veldhuis, G. Xing, Q. Xu, M. Grätzel, S. Mhaisalkar, N. Mathews, and T. C. Sum, "Giant five-photon absorption from multidimensional core-shell halide perovskite colloidal nanocrystals," Nat. Commun. 8, 15198 (2017).
- <sup>38</sup>Y. Xu, Q. Chen, C. Zhang, R. Wang, H. Wu, X. Zhang, G. Xing, W. W. Yu, X. Wang, Y. Zhang, and M. Xiao, "Two-photon-pumped perovskite semiconductor nanocrystal lasers," J. Am. Chem. Soc. **138**, 3761–3768 (2016).
- <sup>39</sup>I. Abdelwahab, G. Grinblat, K. Leng, Y. Li, X. Chi, A. Rusydi, S. A. Maier, and K. P. Loh, "Highly enhanced third-harmonic generation in 2d perovskites at excitonic resonances," ACS Nano 12, 644–650 (2018).
- <sup>40</sup>S. V. Makarov, M. I. Petrov, U. Zywietz, V. Milichko, D. Zuev, N. Lopanitsyna, A. Kuksin, I. Mukhin, G. Zograf, E. Ubyivovk, D. A. Smirnova, S. Starikov, B. N. Chichkov, and Y. S. Kivshar, "Efficient second-harmonic generation in nanocrystalline silicon nanoparticles," Nano Lett. 17, 3047–3053 (2017).
- <sup>41</sup>M. Cazzanelli, F. Bianco, E. Borga, G. Pucker, M. Ghulinyan, E. Degoli, E. Luppi, V. Véniard, S. Ossicini, D. Modotto, S. Wabnitz, R. Pierobon, and L. Pavesi, "Second-harmonic generation in silicon waveguides strained by silicon nitride," Nat. Mater. 11, 148 (2012).
- <sup>42</sup>Z.-K. Tan, R. S. Moghaddam, M. L. Lai, P. Docampo, R. Higler, F. Deschler, M. Price, A. Sadhanala, L. M. Pazos, D. Credgington, F. Hanusch, T. Bein, H. J. Snaith, and R. H. Friend, "Bright light-emitting diodes based on organometal halide perovskite," Nat. Nanotechnol. 9, 687 (2014).
- <sup>43</sup>W. Xu, Q. Hu, S. Bai, C. Bao, Y. Miao, Z. Yuan, T. Borzda, A. J. Barker, E. Tyukalova, Z. Hu, M. Kawecki, H. Wang, Z. Yan, X. Liu, X. Shi, K. Uvdal, M. Fahlman, W. Zhang, M. Duchamp, J.-M. Liu, A. Petrozza, J. Wang, L.-M. Liu, W. Huang, and F. Gao, "Rational molecular passivation for high-performance perovskite light-emitting diodes," Nat. Photonics 13, 418–424 (2019).
- perovskite light-emitting diodes," Nat. Photonics 13, 418–424 (2019).
  <sup>44</sup>C. Wiesmann, K. Bergenek, N. Linder, and U. T. Schwarz, "Photonic crystal leds-designing light extraction," Laser Photonics Rev. 3, 262–286 (2009).
- <sup>45</sup>R.-M. Ma and R. F. Oulton, "Applications of nanolasers," Nat. Nanotechnol. 14, 12–22 (2019).
- <sup>46</sup>S. A. Veldhuis, P. P. Boix, N. Yantara, M. Li, T. C. Sum, N. Mathews, and S. G. Mhaisalkar, "Perovskite materials for light-emitting diodes and lasers," Adv. Mater. 28, 6804–6834 (2016).
- <sup>47</sup>S. Makarov, I. Sinev, V. Milichko, F. Komissarenko, D. Zuev, E. Ushakova, I. Mukhin, Y. Yu, A. Kuznetsov, P. Belov *et al.*, "Nanoscale generation of white light for ultrabroadband nanospectroscopy," Nano Lett. **18**, 535–539 (2018).
- <sup>48</sup>C. Zhang, Y. Xu, J. Liu, J. Li, J. Xiang, H. Li, J. Li, Q. Dai, S. Lan, and A. E. Miroshnichenko, "Lighting up silicon nanoparticles with Mie resonances," Nat. Commun. 9, 2964 (2018).
- <sup>49</sup>M. D. Smith, B. A. Connor, and H. I. Karunadasa, "Tuning the luminescence of layered halide perovskites," Chem. Rev. 119, 3104–3139 (2019).
- 50 M. A. Green, A. Ho-Baillie, and H. J. Snaith, "The emergence of perovskite solar cells," Nat. Photonics 8, 506–514 (2014).
- <sup>51</sup>W. Zhang, M. Saliba, S. D. Stranks, Y. Sun, X. Shi, U. Wiesner, and H. J. Snaith, "Enhancement of perovskite-based solar cells employing core-shell metal nanoparticles," Nano Lett. **13**, 4505–4510 (2013).
- <sup>52</sup>A. Furasova, E. Calabró, E. Lamanna, E. Tiguntseva, E. Ushakova, E. Ubyivovk, V. Mikhailovskii, A. Zakhidov, S. Makarov, and A. Di Carlo, "Resonant silicon nanoparticles for enhanced light harvesting in halide perovskite solar cells," Adv. Opt. Mater. 6, 1800576 (2018).
- <sup>53</sup>A. Jiménez-Solano, S. Carretero-Palacios, and H. Míguez, "Absorption enhancement in methylammonium lead iodide perovskite solar cells with embedded arrays of dielectric particles," Opt. Express 26, A865–A878 (2018).
- <sup>54</sup>Y. Zhang, C.-K. Lim, Z. Dai, G. Yu, J. W. Haus, H. Zhang, and P. N. Prasad, "Photonics and optoelectronics using nanostructured hybrid perovskite media and their optical cavities," Phys. Rep. **795**, 1–51 (2019).

- <sup>55</sup>H. J. Snaith, "Present status and future prospects of perovskite photovoltaics," Nat. Mater. 17, 372 (2018).
- <sup>56</sup>B. Tang, H. Dong, L. Sun, W. Zheng, Q. Wang, F. Sun, X. Jiang, A. Pan, and L. Zhang, "Single-mode lasers based on cesium lead halide perovskite submicron spheres," ACS Nano 11, 10681–10688 (2017).
- <sup>57</sup>Z. Liu, J. Yang, J. Du, Z. Hu, T. Shi, Z. Zhang, Y. Liu, X. Tang, Y. Leng, and R. Li, "Robust subwavelength single-mode perovskite nanocuboid laser," ACS Nano 12, 5923–5931 (2018).
- <sup>58</sup>A. Zhizhchenko, S. Syubaev, A. Berestennikov, A. V. Yulin, A. Porfirev, A. Pushkarev, I. Shishkin, K. Golokhvast, A. A. Bogdanov, A. A. Zakhidov, Y. Kivshar, and S. Makarov, "Single-mode lasing from imprinted halide-perovskite microdisks," ACS Nano 13, 4140–4147 (2019).
   <sup>59</sup>A. B. Evlyukhin, C. Reinhardt, and B. N. Chichkov, "Multipole light scattering
- <sup>59</sup>A. B. Evlyukhin, C. Reinhardt, and B. N. Chichkov, "Multipole light scattering by nonspherical nanoparticles in the discrete dipole approximation," Phys. Rev. B 84, 235429 (2011).
- <sup>60</sup>I. Staude, A. E. Miroshnichenko, M. Decker, N. T. Fofang, S. Liu, E. Gonzales, J. Dominguez, T. S. Luk, D. N. Neshev, I. Brener, and Y. Kivshar, "Tailoring directional scattering through magnetic and electric resonances in subwave-length silicon nanodisks," ACS Nano 7, 7824–7832 (2013).
- <sup>61</sup>K. Baryshnikova, D. Smirnova, B. Luk'yanchuk, and Y. Kivshar, "Optical anapoles: Concepts and applications," Adv. Opt. Mater. 7, 1801350 (2019).
   <sup>62</sup>P. Terekhov, H. Shamkhi, E. Gurvitz, K. Baryshnikova, A. Evlyukhin, A.
- <sup>62</sup>P. Terekhov, H. Shamkhi, E. Gurvitz, K. Baryshnikova, A. Evlyukhin, A. Shalin, and A. Karabchevsky, "Broadband forward scattering from dielectric cubic nanoantenna in lossless media," Opt. Express 27, 10924–10935 (2019).
- <sup>63</sup>T. Moss, "Relations between the refractive index and energy gap of semiconductors," Phys. Status Solidi (b) 131, 415–427 (1985).
- <sup>64</sup>G. Mie, "Beiträge zur optik trüber medien, speziell kolloidaler metallösungen," Ann. Phys. 330, 377–445 (1908).
- <sup>65</sup>C. F. Bohren and D. R. Huffman, Absorption and Scattering of Light by Small Particles (Wiley-VCH, 1998), p. 544.
- <sup>66</sup>R. Alaee, C. Rockstuhl, and I. Fernandez-Corbaton, "An electromagnetic multipole expansion beyond the long-wavelength approximation," Opt. Commun. 407, 17–21 (2018).
- <sup>67</sup>M. Kerker, D.-S. Wang, and C. Giles, "Electromagnetic scattering by magnetic spheres," JOSA 73, 765–767 (1983).
- <sup>68</sup><sup>M</sup>. Decker, I. Staude, M. Falkner, J. Dominguez, D. N. Neshev, I. Brener, T. Pertsch, and Y. S. Kivshar, "High-efficiency dielectric Huygens' surfaces," Adv. Opt. Mater. 3, 813–820 (2015).
- <sup>69</sup>M. Limonov, M. Rybin, A. Poddubny, and Y. Kivshar, "Fano resonances in photonics," Nat. Photonics 11, 543-554 (2017).
- <sup>70</sup>C. Hsu, B. Zhen, A. Stone, J. Joannopoulos, and M. Soljacić, "Bound states in the continuum," Nat. Rev. Mater. 1, 16048 (2016).
- <sup>77</sup>A. Kodigala, T. Lepetit, Q. Gu, B. Bahari, Y. Fainman, and B. Kanté, "Lasing action from photonic bound states in continuum," Nature 541, 196–199 (2017).
- <sup>72</sup>M. Rybin and Y. Kivshar, "Supercavity lasing," Nature 541, 164–165 (2017).
- <sup>73</sup>C. Hsu, B. Zhen, J. Lee, S. Chua, S. Johnson, and J. Joannopoulos, "Observation of trapped light within the radiation continuum," Nature 499, 188–191 (2013).
- <sup>74</sup>F. Monticone and A. Alu, "Embedded photonic eigenvalues in 3d nanostructures," Phys. Rev. Lett. **112**, 213903 (2014).
- <sup>75</sup>Y. Jiang, X. Wang, and A. Pan, "Properties of excitons and photogenerated charge carriers in metal halide perovskites," Adv. Mater. **2019**, 1806671 (published online).
- <sup>76</sup>M. N. Saha, "On a physical theory of stellar spectra," Proc. R. Soc. London 99, 135–153 (1921).
- <sup>77</sup>V. D'innocenzo, G. Grancini, M. J. Alcocer, A. R. S. Kandada, S. D. Stranks, M. M. Lee, G. Lanzani, H. J. Snaith, and A. Petrozza, "Excitons versus free charges in organo-lead tri-halide perovskites," Nat. Commun. 5, 3586 (2014).
- <sup>78</sup>J. S. Manser, J. A. Christians, and P. V. Kamat, "Intriguing optoelectronic properties of metal halide perovskites," Chem. Rev. 116, 12956–13008 (2016).
- <sup>79</sup>T. J. Evans, A. Schlaus, Y. Fu, X. Zhong, T. L. Atallah, M. S. Spencer, L. E. Brus, S. Jin, and X.-Y. Zhu, "Continuous-wave lasing in cesium lead bromide perovskite nanowires," Adv. Opt. Mater. 6, 1700982 (2018).
   <sup>80</sup>S. Zhang, Q. Shang, W. Du, J. Shi, Z. Wu, Y. Mi, J. Chen, F. Liu, Y. Li, M. Liu
- <sup>80</sup>S. Zhang, Q. Shang, W. Du, J. Shi, Z. Wu, Y. Mi, J. Chen, F. Liu, Y. Li, M. Liu et al., "Strong exciton-photon coupling in hybrid inorganic-organic perovskite micro/nanowires," Adv. Opt. Mater. 6, 1701032 (2018).

<sup>81</sup>A. P. Schlaus, M. S. Spencer, K. Miyata, F. Liu, X. Wang, I. Datta, M. Lipson, A. Pan, and X.-Y. Zhu, "How lasing happens in cspbbr 3 perovskite nanowires," Nat. Commun. **10**, 265 (2019).

<sup>82</sup>Q. Wei, X. Li, C. Liang, Z. Zhang, J. Guo, G. Hong, G. Xing, and W. Huang, "Recent progress in metal halide perovskite micro-and nanolasers," Adv. Opt. Mater. 7(17), 1900080 (2019).

- <sup>83</sup>J. M. Richter, M. Abdi-Jalebi, A. Sadhanala, M. Tabachnyk, J. P. Rivett, L. M. Pazos-Outón, K. C. Gödel, M. Price, F. Deschler, and R. H. Friend, "Enhancing photoluminescence yields in lead halide perovskites by photon recycling and light out-coupling," Nat. Commun. 7, 13941 (2016).
- <sup>84</sup>S. D. Stranks, V. M. Burlakov, T. Leijtens, J. M. Ball, A. Goriely, and H. J. Snaith, "Recombination kinetics in organic-inorganic perovskites: Excitons, free charge, and subgap states," Phys. Rev. Appl. 2, 034007 (2014).
- <sup>85</sup>F. Deschler, M. Price, S. Pathak, L. E. Klintberg, D.-D. Jarausch, R. Higler, S. Hüttner, T. Leijtens, S. D. Stranks, H. J. Snaith, M. Atatüre, R. T. Phillips, and R. H. Friend, "High photoluminescence efficiency and optically pumped lasing in solution-processed mixed halide perovskite semiconductors," J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 5, 1421–1426 (2014).
- <sup>86</sup>I. L. Braly, D. W. deQuilettes, L. M. Pazos-Outón, S. Burke, M. E. Ziffer, D. S. Ginger, and H. W. Hillhouse, "Hybrid perovskite films approaching the radiative limit with over 90% photoluminescence quantum efficiency," Nat. Photonics 12, 355–361 (2018).
- <sup>87</sup>Y. Cao, N. Wang, H. Tian, J. Guo, Y. Wei, H. Chen, Y. Miao, W. Zou, K. Pan, Y. He, H. Cao, Y. Ke, M. Xu, Y. Wang, M. Yang, K. Du, Z. Fu, D. Kong, D. Dai, Y. Jin, G. Li, H. Li, Q. Peng, J. Wang, and W. Huang, "Perovskite lightemitting diodes based on spontaneously formed submicrometre-scale structures," Nature 562, 249 (2018).
- <sup>88</sup>X. Zambrana-Puyalto and N. Bonod, "Purcell factor of spherical Mie resonators," Phys. Rev. B **91**, 195422 (2015).
- <sup>89</sup>P. Tonkaev, G. Zograf, and S. Makarov, "Optical cooling of lead halide perovskite nanoparticles enhanced by Mie resonances," Nanoscale (published online).
- <sup>90</sup>E. Y. Tiguntseva, K. L. Koshelev, A. D. Furasova, V. Y. Mikhailovskii, E. V. Ushakova, D. G. Baranov, T. O. Shegai, A. A. Zakhidov, Y. S. Kivshar, and S. V. Makarov, "Single-particle Mie-resonant all-dielectric nanolasers," preprint arXiv:1905.08646 (2019).
- <sup>91</sup>J. Shainline, S. Elston, Z. Liu, G. Fernandes, R. Zia, and J. Xu, "Subwavelength silicon microcavities," Opt. Express 17, 23323–23331 (2009).
- <sup>92</sup>M. V. Rybin, K. L. Koshelev, Z. F. Sadrieva, K. B. Samusev, A. A. Bogdanov, M. F. Limonov, and Y. S. Kivshar, "High-Q supercavity modes in subwavelength dielectric resonators," Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 243901 (2017).
- <sup>93</sup>H. Huang, A. S. Susha, S. V. Kershaw, T. F. Hung, and A. L. Rogach, "Control of emission color of high quantum yield CH<sub>3</sub>NH<sub>3</sub>PbBr<sub>3</sub> perovskite quantum dots by precipitation temperature," Adv. Sci. 2, 1500194 (2015).
- <sup>94</sup>A. Berestennikov, Y. Li, I. Iorsh, A. Zakhidov, A. Rogach, and S. Makarov, "Beyond quantum confinement: Excitonic nonlocality in halide perovskite nanoparticles with Mie resonances," Nanoscale 11, 6747–6754 (2019).
- <sup>95</sup>E. Y. Tiguntseva, D. G. Baranov, A. P. Pushkarev, B. Munkhbat, F. Komissarenko, M. Franckevicius, A. A. Zakhidov, T. Shegai, Y. S. Kivshar, and S. V. Makarov, "Tunable hybrid Fano resonances in halide perovskite nanoparticles," Nano Lett. 18, 5522–5529 (2018).
- 96 B. Zhou, H. Dong, M. Jiang, W. Zheng, L. Sun, B. Zhao, B. Tang, A. Pan, and L. Zhang, "Single-mode lasing and 3D confinement from perovskite microcubic cavity," J. Mater. Chem. C 6, 11740–11748 (2018).
- <sup>97</sup>M. S. Alias, Y. Yang, T. K. Ng, I. Dursun, D. Shi, M. I. Saidaminov, D. Priante, O. M. Bakr, and B. S. Ooi, "Enhanced etching, surface damage recovery, and submicron patterning of hybrid perovskites using a chemically gasassisted focused-ion beam for subwavelength grating photonic applications," J. Phys. Chem. Lett. 7, 137–142 (2016).
- <sup>99</sup>N. Zhang, W. Sun, S. P. Rodrigues, K. Wang, Z. Gu, S. Wang, W. Cai, S. Xiao, and Q. Song, "Highly reproducible organometallic halide perovskite microdevices based on top-down lithography," Adv. Mater. 29, 1606205 (2017).
- <sup>99</sup>Z. Duan, Y. Wang, G. Li, S. Wang, N. Yi, S. Liu, S. Xiao, and Q. Song, "Chipscale fabrication of uniform lead halide perovskites microlaser array and photodetector array," Laser Photonics Rev. 12, 1700234 (2018).
- 100 B. Gholipour, G. Adamo, D. Corecchia, H. N. S. Krishnamoorthy, M. D. Birowosuto, N. I. Zheludev, and C. Soci, "Organometallic perovskite meta-surfaces," Adv. Mater. 29, 1604268 (2017).

- <sup>101</sup>S. Chen, K. Roh, J. Lee, W. K. Chong, Y. Lu, N. Mathews, T. C. Sum, and A. Nurmikko, "A photonic crystal laser from solution based organo-lead iodide perovskite thin films." ACS Nano 10, 3959–3967 (2016).
- perovskite thin films," ACS Nano 10, 3959–3967 (2016). 102Y. Gao, C. Huang, C. Hao, S. Sun, L. Zhang, C. Zhang, Z. Duan, K. Wang, Z. Jin, N. Zhang, A. V. Kildishev, C.-W. Qiu, Q. Song, and S. Xiao, "Lead-halide perovskite nanostructures for dynamic color display," ACS Nano 12, 8847–8854 (2018).
- 103 S. Wang, Y. Liu, G. Li, J. Zhang, N. Zhang, S. Xiao, and Q. Song, "Lead halide perovskite based microdisk lasers for on-chip integrated photonic circuits," Adv. Opt. Mater. 6, 1701266 (2018).
- <sup>104</sup>H. Wang, R. Haroldson, B. Balachandran, A. Zakhidov, S. Sohal, J. Y. Chan, A. Zakhidov, and W. Hu, "Nanoimprinted perovskite nanograting photodetector with improved efficiency," ACS Nano 10, 10921–10928 (2016).
- <sup>105</sup>Z. Li, J. Moon, A. Gharajeh, R. Haroldson, R. Hawkins, W. Hu, A. Zakhidov, and Q. Gu, "Room-temperature continuous-wave operation of organometal halide perovskite lasers," ACS Nano 12(11), 10968–10976 (2018).
- <sup>106</sup>H. Wang, S.-C. Liu, B. Balachandran, J. Moon, R. Haroldson, Z. Li, A. Ishteev, Q. Gu, W. Zhou, A. Zakhidov, and W. Hu, "Nanoimprinted perovskite metasurface for enhanced photoluminescence," Opt. Express 25, A1162–A1171 (2017).
- 107 E. Tiguntseva, A. Chebykin, A. Ishteev, R. Haroldson, B. Balachandran, E. Ushakova, F. Komissarenko, H. Wang, V. Milichko, A. Tsypkin, D. Zuev, W. Hu, S. Makarov, and A. Zakhidov, "Resonant silicon nanoparticles for enhancement of light absorption and photoluminescence from hybrid perovskite films and metasurfaces," Nanoscale 9, 12486–12493 (2017).
- <sup>108</sup>H. Chew, "Radiation and lifetimes of atoms inside dielectric particles," Phys. Rev. A 38, 3410 (1988).
- <sup>109</sup>C. Platts, M. Kaliteevski, S. Brand, R. Abram, I. Iorsh, and A. Kavokin, "Whispering-gallery exciton polaritons in submicron spheres," Phys. Rev. B 79, 245322 (2009).
- <sup>110</sup> V. M. Agranovich and V. L. Ginzburg, Crystaloptics under Consideration of Spatial Dispersion and Theory of Excitons (Nauka, 1965).
- <sup>111</sup>J. Proust, F. Bedu, B. Gallas, I. Ozerov, and N. Bonod, "All-dielectric colored metasurfaces with silicon mie resonators," ACS Nano **10**, 7761–7767 (2016).
- <sup>112</sup>X. Zhu, W. Yan, U. Levy, N. A. Mortensen, and A. Kristensen, "Resonant laser printing of structural colors on high-index dielectric metasurfaces," Sci. Adv. 3, e1602487 (2017).
- <sup>113</sup>C. Zhang, S. Xiao, Y. Wang, Y. Gao, Y. Fan, C. Huang, N. Zhang, W. Yang, and Q. Song, "Lead halide perovskite-based dynamic metasurfaces," Laser Photonics Rev. 13, 1900079 (2019).
- <sup>114</sup>E. T. Hoke, D. J. Slotcavage, E. R. Dohner, A. R. Bowring, H. I. Karunadasa, and M. D. McGehee, "Reversible photo-induced trap formation in mixedhalide hybrid perovskites for photovoltaics," Chem. Sci. 6, 613–617 (2015).
- <sup>115</sup> I. V. Shadrivov, M. Lapine, and Y. S. Kivshar, Nonlinear, Tunable and Active Metamaterials (Springer, 2015), Vol. 1.
- <sup>116</sup>S. V. Makarov, V. Milichko, E. V. Ushakova, M. Omelyanovich, A. C. Pasaran, R. Haroldson, B. Balachandran, H. Wang, W. Hu, Y. S. Kivshar, and A. A. Zakhidov, "Multifold emission enhancement in nanoimprinted hybrid perovskite metasurfaces," ACS Photonics 4, 728–735 (2017).
- <sup>117</sup>Y. Fan, Y. Wang, N. Zhang, W. Sun, Y. Gao, C.-W. Qiu, Q. Song, and S. Xiao, "Resonance-enhanced three-photon luminesce via lead halide perovskite metasurfaces for optical encoding," Nat. Commun. **10**, 2085 (2019).
- <sup>118</sup> A. Chanana, X. Liu, C. Zhang, Z. V. Vardeny, and A. Nahata, "Ultrafast frequency-agile terahertz devices using methylammonium lead halide perovskites," Sci. Adv. 4, eaar7353 (2018).
- <sup>119</sup>M. Manjappa, Y. K. Srivastava, A. Solanki, A. Kumar, T. C. Sum, and R. Singh, "Hybrid lead halide perovskites for ultrasensitive photoactive switching in terahertz metamaterial devices," Adv. Mater. 29, 1605881 (2017).
- 120J. J. Coleman, J. D. Young, and A. Garg, "Semiconductor quantum dot lasers: A tutorial," J. Lightwave Technol. 29, 499–510 (2011).
- <sup>121</sup>Y. Jia, R. A. Kerner, A. J. Grede, B. P. Rand, and N. C. Giebink, "Continuouswave lasing in an organic-inorganic lead halide perovskite semiconductor," Nat. Photonics 11, 784 (2017).
- <sup>122</sup>D. J. Slotcavage, H. I. Karunadasa, and M. D. McGehee, "Light-induced phase segregation in halide-perovskite absorbers," ACS Energy Lett. 1, 1199–1205 (2016).

- <sup>123</sup>J. Mao, W. E. Sha, H. Zhang, X. Ren, J. Zhuang, V. A. Roy, K. S. Wong, and W. C. Choy, "Novel direct nanopatterning approach to fabricate periodically nanostructured perovskite for optoelectronic applications," Adv. Funct. Mater. 27, 1606525 (2017).
- <sup>124</sup>S. Y. Lee, S.-H. Kim, Y. S. Nam, J. C. Yu, S. Lee, D. B. Kim, E. D. Jung, J.-H. Woo, S-m Ahn, S. Lee, K.-J. Choi, J.-Y. Kim, and M. H. Song, "Flexibility of semitransparent perovskite light-emitting diodes investigated by tensile properties of the perovskite layer," Nano Lett. **19**, 971–976 (2019).
- <sup>125</sup>A. Vaskin, J. Bohn, K. E. Chong, T. Bucher, M. Zilk, D.-Y. Choi, D. N. Neshev, Y. S. Kivshar, T. Pertsch, and I. Staude, "Directional and spectral shaping of light emission with Mie-resonant silicon nanoantenna arrays," ACS Photonics 5, 1359–1364 (2018).
- <sup>126</sup>A. Vaskin, S. Mashhadi, M. Steinert, K. E. Chong, D. Keene, S. Nanz, A. Abass, E. Rusak, D.-Y. Choi, I. Fernandez-Corbaton *et al.*, "Manipulation of magnetic dipole emission from Eu3+ with Mie-resonant dielectric metasurfaces," Nano Lett. **19**, 1015–1022 (2019).
- <sup>127</sup>F. Yaraş, H. Kang, and L. Onural, "State of the art in holographic displays: A survey," J. Disp. Technol. 6, 443–454 (2010).
- <sup>128</sup>L. Wang, S. Kruk, H. Tang, T. Li, I. Kravchenko, D. N. Neshev, and Y. S. Kivshar, "Grayscale transparent metasurface holograms," Optica 3, 1504–1505 (2016).
- <sup>129</sup>G. E. Eperon, V. M. Burlakov, A. Goriely, and H. J. Snaith, "Neutral color semitransparent microstructured perovskite solar cells," ACS Nano 8, 591–598 (2014).

- <sup>130</sup>W. Zhang, M. Anaya, G. Lozano, M. E. Calvo, M. B. Johnston, H. Míguez, and H. J. Snaith, "Highly efficient perovskite solar cells with tunable structural color," Nano Lett. 15, 1698–1702 (2015).
- <sup>131</sup>D. Gets, D. Saranin, A. Ishteev, R. Haroldson, E. Danilovskiy, S. Makarov, and A. Zakhidov, "Light-emitting perovskite solar cell with segregation enhanced self doping," Appl. Surf. Sci. 476, 486–492 (2019).
- <sup>132</sup> A. Tittl, A. Leitis, M. Liu, F. Yesilkoy, D.-Y. Choi, D. N. Neshev, Y. S. Kivshar, and H. Altug, "Imaging-based molecular barcoding with pixelated dielectric metasurfaces," Science 360, 1105–1109 (2018).
- <sup>133</sup>F. Yesilkoy, E. R. Arvelo, Y. Jahani, M. Liu, A. Tittl, V. Cevher, Y. Kivshar, and H. Altug, "Ultrasensitive hyperspectral imaging and biodetection enabled by dielectric metasurfaces," Nat. Photonics 13, 390–396 (2019).
- <sup>134</sup>Z. Yang, J. Lu, M. ZhuGe, Y. Cheng, J. Hu, F. Li, S. Qiao, Y. Zhang, G. Hu, Q. Yang, D. Peng, K. Liu, and C. Pan, "Controllable growth of aligned monocrystalline CsPbBr<sub>3</sub> microwire arrays for piezoelectric-induced dynamic modulation of single-mode lasing," Adv. Mater. **31**, 1900647 (2019).
- 135 P. Pringsheim, "Zwei bemerkungen über den unterschied von lumineszenzund temperaturstrahlung," Z. Phys. 57, 739–746 (1929).
- <sup>136</sup>R. I. Epstein, M. I. Buchwald, B. C. Edwards, T. R. Gosnell, and C. E. Mungan, "Observation of laser-induced fluorescent cooling of a solid," Nature 377, 500 (1995).
- <sup>137</sup>S.-T. Ha, C. Shen, J. Zhang, and Q. Xiong, "Laser cooling of organic-inorganic lead halide perovskites," Nat. Photonics 10, 115 (2016).